
Agenda for a meeting of the Children's Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 
Tuesday, 27 February 2018 at 4.30 pm in Committee 
Room 1 - City Hall, Bradford
Members of the Committee – Councillors
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL DEMOCRAT 

AND INDEPENDENT
INDEPENDENT

D Smith
M Pollard

Engel
Mullaney
Peart
Shaheen
Tait

Ward Sajawal

Alternates:
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL DEMOCRAT 

AND INDEPENDENT
Rickard
Riaz

Akhtar
Bacon
Abid Hussain
Thirkill
Sharp

J Sunderland

VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS:
Sidiq Ali Parent Governor Representative
Claire Parr Church Representative (RC)
Joyce Simpson Church Representative (CE)
Gull Hussain Parent Governor Representative

NON VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS
Kerr Kennedy Voluntary Sector Representative
Tom Bright Teachers Secondary School Representative
Irene Docherty Teachers Special School Representative

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by contacting the 

Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if Councillors 

vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of the meeting and 
behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending 
the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda 
Contact who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those 
present who are invited to make spoken contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be 
filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer named at 
the foot of that agenda item.

From: To:
Michael Bowness
Interim City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Fatima Butt / Jill Bell
Phone: 01274 432227/434580
E-Mail: fatima.butt@bradford.gov.uk / jill.bell@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34)

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.  

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

3.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 



should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Fatima Butt - 01274 432227)

4.  REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The following referrals have been made to this Committee up to and 
including the date of publication of this agenda.

The Committee is asked to note the referrals listed above and decide 
how it wishes to proceed, for example by incorporating the item into the 
work programme, requesting that it be subject to more detailed 
examination, or refer it to an appropriate Working Group/Committee.

B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES

5.  YOUTH VOICE

Representatives of young people who attend programmes run by the 
Youth Service will give Members a verbal presentation on how they 
feel “Youth Voice” and their engagement with the democratic process 
could be increased.

(Heather Wilson – 01274 431781)

6.  B POSITIVE PATHWAYS

In January 2017 Bradford was awarded £3.2 million over 2 years from 
the Department for Education Innovation Fund.  There are 3 elements 
to the award:

1) Reducing the number of children in care through stronger edge of 
care work.

2) Improving our ability to provide high levels of care within our 
residential homes  through embedding a therapeutic “PACE” 
approach.

3) Setting up two “mockingbird” hubs to improve support to foster 
carers working with  children with more complex needs.

After consultation with the Children in Care Council, the programme 
was named B Positive Pathways.  The Strategic Director Children’s 
Services will submit Document “AE” which provides a progress report 
on this programme.

1 - 6



Recommended – 

That the contents of Document “AE” and progress of B Positive 
Pathways be noted.

(Jim Hopkinson - 01274 432904)

7.  BRADFORD OPPORTUNITY AREA

Bradford is one of the Education Secretary’s 12 Opportunity Areas 
(OAs) - these are social mobility ‘coldspots’ each receiving a share of 
£72 million to improve opportunities for young people in this 
community. 

Bradford’s share of the investment is £6m and will total £11.5m. This 
will include £5.5m for the Essential Life Skills funding over two years to 
enable children and young people aged 5 -18 years old to participate in 
regular extra-curricular activities. Children and young people will be 
able to participate in extra-curricular activities such as sports, 
volunteering and social action projects. 

The new Delivery Plan includes investing in literacy projects, careers 
education and advice and additional support for vulnerable young 
people across the city, as well as boosting career development for 
school leaders and teachers in Bradford. 

The Strategic Director Children’s Services will submit Document “AF” 
which provides information on the Bradford Opportunity Area Delivery 
Plan which has been developed in partnership with the Local Authority, 
local schools, employers, and the voluntary and health sector. Young 
people have been consulted and will be engaged in the delivery of this 
programme. 

Recommended – 

That the Delivery Plan be noted.
(Kathryn Loftus – 01274 434590)

7 - 66

8.  CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18

The report of the Chair of the Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee (Document “AG”) presents the Committee’s Work 
Programme 2017-18.

Recommended – 

That the Work Programme continues to be regularly reviewed 
during the year.

(Licia Woodhead – 01274 432119)

67 - 70

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



 
 

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director Children’s Service s to 
the meeting of Children’s Services Overview & Scrut iny 
Committee to be held on 27 th February 2018 
 
 

AE 
Subject:   
 
B Positive Pathways 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
 
In January 2017 Bradford was awarded £3.2 million over 2 years from the DfE Innovation 
Fund.  There are 3 elements to the award: 
 
1) Reducing the number of children in care through stronger edge of care work. 
2) Improving our ability to provide high levels of care within our residential homes  

through embedding a therapeutic “PACE” approach. 
3) Setting up two “mockingbird” hubs to improve support to foster carers working with  

children with more complex needs. 
 
After consultation with the Children in Care Council, the programme was named B Positive 
Pathways 
 
 
 
 
 

Michael Jameson 
Strategic Director 
Children’s Services 

Portfolio:   
 
Children’s Services 
 

Report Contact:  Jim Hopkinson 
Phone: (01274) 432904 
E-mail: jim.hopkinson@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6/



 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 In January 2017, Bradford was awarded £3.2 million over 2 years from the DfE 

Innovation Fund, the second biggest award made by the DfE. There are 3 elements 
to the award. Reducing the number of children in care through stronger edge of 
care work. Improving our ability to provide high levels of care within our residential 
homes through embedding a therapeutic “PACE” approach. Setting up two 
“Mockingbird” hubs to provide support to foster carers working with children with 
more complex needs. After consultation with the Children in Care Council, the 
programme was named B Positive Pathways. 

 
2. BACKGROUND  
 
2.1  B Positive Pathways Programme (BPP) is a £3.2m innovation funded project that 

scales the successful North Yorkshire ‘No Wrong Door’ innovation project to 
Bradford. No Wrong Door is a different approach to working with adolescents to 
prevent them entering the care system and to improve their long term outcomes. 
The model centres on a hub home with wrap around multi agency professionals 
working together. No Wrong Door has won several awards and has made a 
significant saving to the public purse in the approach that has been taken. A 
number of Local Authorities are looking to replicate this approach.  
 
• The Department of Education evaluation of the No Wrong Door project in July 

2017 stated that savings had been made through both ‘cashable’ and ‘cost 
avoidance’NYCC saved £440,000 by reducing out of authority placements for 
adolescents (cashable). 

• Police saved £200,000 through reduction in missing episodes  and offending 
behaviour (cashable). 

• NYCC saved £20,000 in costs incurred by placement moves through increased 
placement stability. 

• Estimated cost saving of CAMHS undertaking assessments and interventions 
through in house staff £316,000. 

• Estimated cost saving of SaLTs £300,000. 
 

2.2  BPP is fully funded in the first two years (from the start date of 1st April 2017 we 
agreed with DfE) and by year three we will be aiming to show the significant savings 
that have been made to ensure that the programme is supported financially for 
years three and four. There will be a full academic review of the programme 
(including a cost benefit analysis)  to show impact with our research partners led by 
the University of Oxford Rees Centre. 

 
2.3 In October 2018 Robert Goodwill, Minister of State for Children and Families, 

officially launched BPP at a Conference in Bradford. 
 
2.4  BPP has three key elements: 
 

1) Hub Home & Specialist Children’s Homes; 
2) Mockingbird Fostering Model; 
3) Pace Model of Care. 

 

Page 2



 
 

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1  B Positive Pathway Hub Home & Specialist Children’s Homes. 
 
3.2  The BPP service is based out of one of our Local Authority Children’s homes, The 

Willows.  A manager has been identified to take on the Registered Manager role 
who will start full time in the coming month. Staff working at this base provide  both 
a respite and outreach model. The team consists of residential staff and outreach 
workers, supported by dedicated Police Officers, Life coaches (psychologists), 
Speech & Language therapist and occupational therapists, close links with the 
Virtual School and Youth Service. All are now in post, with the exception of health 
staff who have been appointed but have yet to take up post. 

 
3.3  The BPP service will work with children at the edge of care and respond proactively 

and innovatively to cases that at the moment quickly escalate to full time care. We 
envisage that there will be a significant caseload of families and young people 
accessing this service. We will expect outreach workers to support young people 
and families in their own homes responding at the time of crisis and to call on the 
wrap around support to enable families to work through their issues without 
statutory intervention. The outreach service will be offered 24/7. As of 2nd February 
2018  the outreach staff held  an active caseload  of 48 “edge of care” adolescents 
and had already closed (without entering long term care) cases relating to 7 edge of 
care adolescents.  

 
3.4   We have taken on the lease of Hollybank Road from Catholic Care where one of 

the homes will be sited, and the scheduled opening is early March 2018. 
 
3.5 In addition to The Willows, we have identified  three specialist homes in Bradford. 

These are Newholme, Meadowlea and  Hollybank Road (see above). These homes 
will have a greater level of staffing, will have a reduced number of residents and will 
call on the specialist roles within the BPP hub. These homes have already 
contributed to our aim  to return children from external homes to live in this 
provision and create resilient long term placements. It is predominately adolescents 
that are placed in external residential accommodation. Despite Bradford mirroring 
the national picture of a rising overall care population, our external residential 
placements have fallen by 8% these are adolescent young people and therefore in 
the target group for BPP. This is cash saving to the local authority of £378,000 and 
in addition saves on SW travel time and contact. 

 
3.6  We will explore recruiting foster carers on casual contracts to work as part of the 

residential teams. If successful relationships are built there will be the possibility 
that young people can be fostered from the homes. 

 
3.7  Mockingbird Fostering 
 
3.8  Mockingbird is a fostering model first used in America. It uses the concept of a hub 

carer being at the centre of a constellation of foster families. The hub carer 
becomes the ‘grandparent’ figure and provides regular sleep overs to the young 
people in the constellation and arranges a regular get together of the whole 
constellation. The hub carer is supported by a liaison worker. A constellation is 
made up of between 6 – 8 foster families. 

Page 3



 
 

 
3.9 The model has been embedded in a number of Local Authorities as part of the first 

tranche of innovation and has resulted in greater placement stability and outcomes 
for the young people. 

 
3.10  We have now successfully completed the six stage process to implement 

Mockingbird and have been supported through our partnership with the  Fostering 
Network. 

 
3.11  We had substantial interest from foster carers in becoming hub carers and have 

selected 2 who are now developing their Mockingbird constellations. One 
concentrates on supporting mainstream carers, the other on supporting family and 
friends carers. We plan to support these arrangements further  by linking them to 
the BPP hub home. Mockingbird will be officially launched at an event with foster 
carers on 10th February 2018. 

 
3.12 Model of Care 
 
3.13 As a result of an external review of our residential provision in 2015, we developed 

a model for Looked After children in Bradford. 
 

3.14  We aim for the basis of this model PACE to be our approach to working with 
children who have suffered early trauma and attachment in all placements. 
 
• Attachment (PACE – playfulness, acceptance, curiosity, empathy); 
• Resilience; 
• Team Teach; 
• Outcome Star; 
• Signs of Safety; 
• Building life skills for independence. 
 

3.15    A Workforce Development Plan has been implemented to embed the approaches 
above within the staff teams. This will provide staff with the skills to fully support 
children and young people. 

 
3.16  Training in the elements of the model is on-going. A total of 68 residential staff have 

commenced training and of these a total of 61 have completed Signs of Safety 
training, PACE training, Outcome Star training and Developing Resilience in 
Children training.  This will be an on going rolling programme of training to meet the 
needs of the cohort and any new staff members that are employed. 

  
3.17 All of the homes have PACE Champions and Signs of Safety Practice Leads.  

Additionally, some staff have had the opportunity to train in Dyadic Developmental 
Psychotherapy – level 1 and level 2 – the therapy that incorporates PACE.  
Approximately 16 of these staff have done ‘training for trainers’ and are training all 
staff over 6 sessions in Foundations for Attachment, a more in depth attachment 
based programme informed by PACE. 

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
 
4.1 Evidence suggests that teenagers that enter carer often experience poor outcomes, 

Page 4



 
 

including disruptions in contact with families and disruptions in education. In 
addition risks of missing, offending, substance misuse and exploitation can be 
increased. Children who enter care as teenagers are disproportionately likely to be 
placed in residential care (as opposed to family settings), including out of authority 
placements. As well as being exceptionally expensive, out of authority placements 
can further disrupt family ties and educational outcomes. The DfE innovation 
Funded B Positive Pathways programme has the potential to contribute to our 
strategic priorities associated with Better health – Better Lives as well as Great Start 
– Good Schools by safely, and appropriately, reducing the number of children in 
care as well as reducing expenditure on high cost residential placements. (NOT A  
Its early days but we can demonstrate some costs savings (or cost avoidance) the 
BPP analyst is now in post and will ensure that the tracker that will be used to 
monitor impact is in place and will be reported monthly to the BPP Innovation board 
chaired by the DCS. 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL  
 
 None. 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1      EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 
 None. 
  
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS  
 

 None. 
 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
 None. 
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  
 
 None. 
 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  
 

 None.  
 

Page 5



 
 

7.6 TRADE UNION 
 
 None. 
 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 
 None. 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
 None. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee note  the content of this 

report and the progress of  B Positive Pathways. 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 
 None. 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
 None. 
 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director of Children’s 
Services for the meeting of Overview & Scrutiny to 
be held on 27 th February 2018. 
 

AF 
Subject:   
 
Bradford Opportunity Area 
 
Summary statement: 
 
Bradford is one of the Education Secretary’s 12 Opportunity Areas (OAs) - these are 
social mobility ‘coldspots’ each receiving a share of £72 million to improve 
opportunities for young people in this community.  
 
Bradford’s share of the investment is £6m and will total £11.5m. This will include 
£5.5m for the Essential Life Skills funding over two years to enable children and 
young people aged 5 -18 years old to participate in regular extra-curricular activities. 
Children and young people will be able to participate in extra-curricular activities 
such as sports, volunteering and social action projects.  
 
The new,  Delivery Plan, launched by the Education Secretary, Damian Hinds on 
19th January 2018 includes investing in literacy projects, careers education and 
advice and additional support for vulnerable young people across the city, as well as 
boosting career development for school leaders and teachers in Bradford.  
 
This is a plan that will be Bradford led and has been developed in partnership with 
the Local Authority, local schools, employers, and the voluntary and health sector. 
Young people have been consulted, and will be engaged in the delivery of this 
programme.  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Michael Jameson 
Strategic Director of Children’s 
Services 

Portfolio:   
 
Education, Employment and 
Skills 
 

Report Contact:  Kathryn Loftus 
(Programme Director) 
Phone: (01274) 434590 
E-mail: Kathryn.loftus@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7/



 
 

1 Summary  
 
 
1.1 The Bradford Opportunity Area Delivery Plan will add to the investment 

already being made across Bradford, including the Better Start Bradford 
strategy which is investing £50million over 10 years to work with very young 
children.   

 
1.2 The delivery plan builds on strong partnership work already taking place 

across the district and will enhance and scale up initiatives such as the 
Education Covenant, Bradford Pathways and the Industrial Centres of 
Excellence as these Bradford led initiatives demonstrate the ability to drive 
improved outcomes. 

 
1.3 It will be supported by local businesses, as well as the Careers & Enterprise 

Company (CEC) as it continues its work bringing schools and employers 
together across Bradford to help pupils gain experience of and aspire to high 
quality careers.  

 
1.4 The CEC has signed up a number of significant local employers across a 

range of industries and include Burberry, PwC, Adecco, Lloyds Banking 
Group, Mantra Media and Barclays.  

 
1.5 The Essential Life Skills programme will complement the delivery plan by 

providing extra-curricular activities like sports, volunteering and social action 
projects, giving pupils the opportunity to develop leadership skills. 

 
1.6 Alongside this, the DfE will continue to work closely with the National Citizen 

Service and Education Endowment Foundation. 
 
 
2 Background  
 
2.1 Bradford is one of twelve Opportunity Areas that are receiving a share of £72 

million to boost opportunities for young people in these communities. The 
Opportunity Area programme is a key part of the Government’s priority of 
boosting social mobility.  

 
2.2 Bradford’s share of this investment is £6m.  
 
2.3 As an Opportunity Area, Bradford will also receive a share of a further £22 

million through a new Essential Life Skills programme. This funding (allocated 
proportionate to school age population in each area) will be targeted toward 
helping disadvantaged young people to develop life skills such as resilience, 
emotional wellbeing and employability.  

Page 8



 
 

 
2.4 Bradford’s share of this investment is £5.5m. 
 
2.5 Each school, college, special school and pupil referral unit will receive 

proposed grant allocations that they will then be able to apply for via an 
application process outlining their activity which will close on 9th March 2018.   

 
2.6 This funding can be used to provide new, or significantly extended extra 

curricular activities. Schools can deliver the activity themselves or decide to 
buy in a third party to deliver on their behalf.  All awarded grants will be 
subject to monitoring and evaluation. 

 
2.7 In addition, Bradford will receive support from national partners, for example 

The Careers and Enterprise Company, and be prioritised for other 
government initiatives.  

 
2.8 Bradford led initiatives such as the Education Covenant have been gaining 

strength in their own right  as it challenges and enables businesses, public 
services, parents and communities to provide practical support to Bradford’s 
schools and children.  The delivery plan aims to build on this work aswell as 
the Industrial Centres of Excellence, Bradford Pathways, governor recruitment 
and Bradford Community Champions as this work aligns to the priorities in the 
plan.  

 
2.9 Prior to the Opportunity Area programme, Bradford has been innovative in 

finding approaches to recruiting the best new teachers to the district.  
Initiatives such as the city wide ‘Bradford Talent Bank’  placing quality Newly 
Qualified Teachers (NQTs) in Bradford's schools  and the ‘bus tours’ enabling 
the showcasing of the diversity of schools across the city has given the city 
access to over 600 graduating teachers each year.   Building on this success 
is a key and aligns with the priority for strengthening school leadership in 
particular teacher recruitment and retention. 

 
2.10 In addition there is a wealth of high quality school leaders – Bradford has 

more than 30 outstanding schools, 8 strong teaching schools and 16 National 
Leaders in Education, all committed to driving up standards through 
collaboration. Over the past two years, up to 100 Bradford heads and senior 
leaders have signed up to or completed development training, creating a 
pipeline of skilled and passionate senior and executive leaders.  Having 
system leaders across the district means they can be mobilised to support 
struggling schools through the Opportunity area work. 

 
2.11 Furthermore, the Department for Education’s local Opportunity Area team 

has: 
 

Page 9



 
 

- Engaged regularly over the last 8 months with stakeholders across 
Bradford to build momentum and a collective Opportunity Area vision.  

- Built upon the strong tradition of collaboration in Bradford through the 
partnership board to co-construct the plan. 

 
3 Why is Bradford an Opportunity Area? 
 
3.1 The purpose of Opportunity Areas is improving social mobility; using 

education as a key driver to achieve this. Therefore the Social Mobility 
Commission’s Social Mobility Index was used as the starting point to identify 
these areas.  The 12 areas selected were all in the group of Local Authority’s 
with the greatest challenges and fewest opportunities.  
 

3.2 Although, Bradford was amongst the areas identified as most challenged 
(ranked 254th out of 324 districts in the social mobility commission’s index in 
2017) it has also been identified for Opportunity Area investment, as it has 
been recognised as already having built the necessary momentum and 
capacity for improvement.  

 
4. The Opportunity Area Partnership Board 
 
4.1 The Bradford Opportunity Area partnership board brings together local school 

and council leaders, businesses and community organisations with an 
understanding of the area and a commitment to making Bradford a better 
place to learn and achieve.  

 
4.2 Decisions about what investments will need to made based upon the priorities 

and activities outlined in the plan and will be determined by the Partnership 
Board in consultations with key stakeholders. The Boards role is to work with 
schools, early years and post-16 education providers, employers, young 
people and parents and carers, to: 

 
• Developing the Opportunity Areas Plans  
• Determine spending priorities, ensuring they are evidence based and 

represent value for money  
• Ensure plans are delivered in a robust an effective way  

 
4.3 The Board’s membership is as follows: 
 

• Anne-Marie Canning: Director of Widening Participation and Social 
Mobility at Kings College, London 

• Michael Jameson: Strategic Director, Bradford Council Children's 
Services 

• Adeeba Malik: Deputy Chief Executive, QED 
• Christian Bunting: Director, Bradford Birth to 19 Teaching School 

Alliance 
• Duncan Jacques: CEO and Executive Principal of Exceed Academies 

Trust 
• Janice Stephenson: Head teacher, Newby Primary School 
• John Wright: Chief Investigator, Born in Bradford 

Page 10



 
 

• Sir Nick Weller: CEO and Executive Principal of Dixons Academy Trust –
Bradford’s Research School  

• Paul Lewis: Director of Government Relations, The Careers and 
Enterprise Company  

• Sue Cooke: Executive Head of Economic Services, Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP)  

• Will Richardson: Senior Partner PwC 
• Vicky Beer: Regional Schools Commissioner (NW and W Yorkshire) 

 
 The meetings are also attended by officials from the Department for 

Education. 
 
5 The Bradford Delivery Plan 
 
5.1 The second six Opportunity Area plans, including the Bradford plan were 

published on 19th January 2018. Bradford’s plan, sets out a series of 
ambitions to support literacy projects, careers education and advice and 
additional support for vulnerable young people across the city, as well as 
boosting career development for school leaders and teachers.  

 
5.2 The Bradford plan identifies four priorities for action over the next two years 

and subsequent targets for improvement. The plan also provides the detail 
about what will be done this year and what investments will be made. Further 
detail about the priorities and commitments for this year are included below: 

 
 In setting its priorities, the partnership board has focused on areas where the 

Opportunity Area’s time and resources can achieve the best combination of 
short-term impact and sustainability, balancing issues affecting the greatest 
number of young people, against those creating the most severe challenges 
for a minority.  

 
 The plan sets out four priorities for Bradford to improve social mobility. 
 
 Priority 1 - Strengthening school leadership and t he quality of teaching 
 
 The plan will support improvement in school leadership, enabling at least 50 

head teachers, senior and middle leaders to complete leadership courses, 
and launching an enhanced offer of leadership masterclasses. The plan aims 
to support improvement in the Ofsted ratings of at least half of the schools in 
Bradford currently rated ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’. 

 
 Priority 2 - Improve literacy in Bradford’s primar y schools particularly 

for disadvantaged pupils  
 
 The work will build on the investment already being made in early reading 

skills by funding training programmes in Bradford, beginning this year with the 
10 primary schools furthest below the national average for reading and 
writing. Over the life of the programme, secondary and post-16 literacy will 
also be supported in consultation with local employers and universities to 
make sure young people are better prepared for the world of work.  

Page 11



 
 

 
 Priority 3 – Improving access to rewarding careers   
 
 Efforts will be targeted at 11-18 year olds to ensure each benefits from at 

least four high quality encounters with the world of work. The National Citizen 
Service (NCS) will triple the resources it makes available to young people in 
Bradford, to support 2,400 15-17 year olds by 2020.  

 
 Priority 4 - Removing barriers to learning by deve loping evidence for 

what really works 
 
 Bradford is at the forefront of world-leading research on health and education. 

By the end of 2018, local partners including Bradford’s EEF Research School, 
the ‘Born in Bradford’ cohort study and Bradford Council will be supporting 
teachers in at least 50 schools to identify and provide the right help to 
students at risk of social, emotional or mental health issues. Priorities will 
include early identification of autism and related disorders, as well as 
improving reading and writing.  

 
 The Department for Education will work with a range of partners across 

education, government, business and civil society to deliver change on the 
ground. Improving opportunity is one of the great challenges of our time and 
everyone must play their part. 

 
 In centring our plan on schools, we are making a difficult choice not to focus 

on areas like early years, or post-16. We are however, committed to working 
with partners leading improvement in these sectors – like the Better Start 
programme, already working at scale to raise the quality of early years 
education in the city – so where our interests and programmes align we will 
seek to join up, share learning and resources.  

 
 As well detail about what will be delivered in support of these priorities the 

plan it also identifies the support available to Bradford from national 
organisations, including The Careers Enterprise Company, National Citizen 
Service and the Education Endowment Foundation. The value of this 
investment is estimated to be c.£1m. A copy of the plan is included at 
Appendix A to this report. 

 
6 How will the Opportunity Area Programme complemen t work already 

underway? 
 
6.1 The Opportunity Area plan recognises that “the challenge goes beyond low 

attainment. Head teachers, employers and other key stakeholders have 
described what they see as a culture of low expectations across the city. They 
have made clear the urgent need to attract more great teachers, schools 
leaders and professionals who can drive up standards and broaden young 
people’s horizons.” (OA Plan p.15) 

 
6.2 The first place we will look to for answers is Bradford. We will scale up 

investments in existing good practice wherever possible. We will recognise, 

Page 12



 
 

celebrate and invest in the most effective individuals, organisations and 
partnerships in Bradford, so that they can, in turn, help others to improve. 

 
7 How will Bradford receive this investment? 
 
7.1 The Department for Education (DfE) have confirmed, via a Grant 

Determination Letter received by the Council on 10 October 2017, they will 
devolve funding as a “Grant under a Section 31 non-ring fenced transfer 
(Local Government Finance Act 2003).” Furthermore they confirmed that their 
“expectation is that Bradford Council will use the funds to support the aims of 
the Opportunity Areas programme.” 

 
7.2 This financial year, we expect at least two non-ring-fenced grants to be paid. 

The first we have already received in October (£100k) and a second in 
January 2018.  

 
7.3 A copy of the Grant Determination Letter is attached at Appendix B to this 

report. 
 
7.4 Officers have also held initial discussions with DfE officials about Essential 

Life Skills funding and have confirmed with them that this funding will be 
provided in the same way. We anticipate that we will account for the funding 
internally as part of the Opportunity Area budget, but expect to report 
spending to the DfE separately to support their monitoring arrangements.  

 
8 Investments and Procurement  
 
8.1 As outlined by the DfE in their grant determination letter. Funding is provided 

to the LA to: 
 

• implement the recommendations of the Opportunity Areas delivery plans 
to improve the social mobility outcomes of children and young people 
across all life stages; 

• offer targeted support and fund activities that address social mobility 
barriers locally across all life stages;  

• coordinate through the OA partnership board regional activities with the 
intention of improving system capacity in school leadership, teacher 
quality, curriculum programmes and school clubs;  

• support activities that seek to improve personal development, raise 
aspirations, provide opportunities for career experience and skills 
development and participation in volunteering and social action projects;  

• establish pilot interventions and programmes focussing on areas which 
might include (but would not be limited to) the home learning 
environment, teacher workload, international teacher recruitment, 
children and young people’s mental health, training for SEND 
practitioners, pathways to employment for young people, and speech, 
language and communication needs in early years.  

 

Page 13



 
 

8.2 We will also utilise this funding to cover its reasonable expenses incurred by 
the Council in helping to administer the OA programme, this may include 
support for procurement, project management and communications. 

 
8.3 We anticipate that the OA Programme in utilising its budget over the next two 

year (cash c£11.5m) will make a number of significant investments. Many of 
these investments will be substantial in excess of £250k and will affect more 
than 1 ward in Bradford. As such these will be key decisions. We will work 
with colleagues in Corporate Resources to schedule, plan and administer 
these procurement process.  

 
8.4 In order to ensure efficiency in our decision making and to ensure that the 

roles and responsibilities of the Partnership Board and the Council are co-
ordinated, we propose that the authority to agree all spending decisions 
related to the Opportunity Areas programme, including for key decisions, is 
delegated to the Director of Children’s Services, after consultation with the 
Portfolio Member for Education. 

 
8.5 To ensure transparency and accountability in these decisions we propose that 

an annual report be provided to Executive which should include but not be 
limited to: information about; total income and investments; the impact of 
these investments against targets and future plans and likely spending 
priorities. In addition we propose that formal update reports be provided 
quarterly to the Portfolio Member for Education, Employment and Skills. 

 
9 Other Considerations  
 
9.1 None. 
 
10 Financial & Resource Appraisal 
 
10.1 The Opportunity Area funding and other associated funding streams are 

expected to total around £11.5m over the next two financial years and is a 
grant from the Department for Education. This includes in excess of £6m for 
the main Opportunity Area grant, in excess of £5.5m for Essential Life skills 
funding with the remainder made up of support from national partners and 
prioritised funding for other government initiatives.  This investment will be 
across the entire Education sector in Bradford and not all of the funding will 
pass through the Council.   

 
10.2 The exact costs of the proposals to support the four priority areas are 

currently being developed.  It is currently expected that all Opportunity Area 
related expenditure will be met from the grant available and there will be no 
call on Council’s funding. 

 
10.3 Specific initiatives will be reported in line with Council procedures as they are 

developed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
 

11 Risk Management and Governance Issues  
 
11.1 If there are no significant risks arising out of the implementation of the 

proposed recommendations should be stated but only on advice of the 
Finance Director and the City Solicitor. 

 
12 Legal Appraisal 
 
12.1  Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides that a Minister of the 

Crown may pay a grant to a local authority in England towards expenditure 
incurred or to be incurred by it.  The amount of a grant under this section and 
the manner of its payment are determined by the Minister but may include 
conditions such as provision as to the use of the grant and provision as to 
circumstances in which the whole or part of the grant must be repaid. In the 
case of a grant to a local authority in England, the powers under this section 
are exercisable with the consent of the Treasury. 

 
12.2  Section 31 is a wide-ranging power to enable any minister to make a grant for 

any purpose, capital or revenue, to any local authority. The power is designed 
to allow authorities more flexibility in the use of such resources.  

 
 
13 Other Implications  
 
13.1 Equality and Diversity  
 
13.1.1 None.  
 
13.2 Sustainability Implications  
 
13.2.1 As the report sets out, the Opportunity Area Programme is seeking to make a 

significant impact in education and social mobility over the next three years 
and beyond. The Programme, its investments and key interventions will strive 
to support all the District Priority Outcomes, and directly on personal and 
community well-being, resilience and prosperity. The work is being designed 
to reinforce existing good practice across the District and use the time-limited 
resources to make evidence based impact and long-term value. 

  
13.2.2 Investing in our children and arrangements for future generations is central to 

contributing to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the long-term 
success of the District. OAP is a significant investment where innovation and 
involvement will be centre stage, especially in making real changes that 
support inclusive growth and addressing the needs of the most vulnerable. 

 
 
13.3 Green House Gas Emissions Impacts  
 
13.3.1 None. 
 
 
 

Page 15



 
 

13.4 Community Safety Implications  
 
13.4.1 None.  
 
13.5 Human Rights Act  
 
13.5.1 None.  
 
13.6 Trade Union  
 
13.6.1 None.   
 
13.7 Ward Implications  
 
13.7.1 All wards affected. 
 
13.8 Area Committee Action Plan Implications  
  
13.8.1 None. 
 
13.9 Not For Publication Documents  
 
13.9.1 None. 
 
14 Options  
 
14.1 There are no options as the programme of delivery is underway and being 

overseen by the Opportunity Area Partnership Board. 
 
14.2 Recommendations  
 It is recommended that the Delivery Plan be noted for information. 
 
15 Appendices  
 

• Bradford Opportunity Area Delivery Plan. 
• Grant Determination Letter 10.10.17. 

 
16 Background Documents  
 

• Time For Change: An Assessment of Government Policies on Social 
Mobility 1997-2017. 

• Opportunity Area Selection Methodology. 
• Social Mobility Action Plan. 

 
 

Page 16



Social Mobility

Bradford

A local plan to improve opportunities for  
Bradford’s children and young people

Opportunity Area 2017-20

Page 17



Page 18



Contents
Our vision 4

A message from the Secretary of State for Education 5

A message from the Chair of the partnership board 6

Our principles 7

Our four priorities 8

Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people 10

The Bradford context: a young, dynamic city 11

Building on strong foundations 12

Why is Bradford an Opportunity Area? 14

Our key challenges 15

Strength through partnership 16

Bradford’s Opportunity Area partnership board 17

Our national partners 18

We will ensure young people are at the heart of our plan  20

Our priorities 22

Priority 1: Strengthening school leadership and the quality 
of teaching 23

Priority 2: Improving literacy in Bradford’s primary schools, 
particularly for disadvantaged pupils 30

Priority 3: Improving access to rewarding careers 34

Priority 4: Using evidence and research to remove barriers  
to learning 38

Page 19



OUR VISION

Page 20



Our vision

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 5

A message from the Secretary of State for Education

Bradford is the definition 
of an Opportunity 
Area: a young, diverse 
city, creating a new 
generation of home-grown 
entrepreneurs, working 
alongside established, 
national employers to 

reclaim Bradford’s proud history as a great 
city of industry. In Bradford’s most effective 
schools, and further and higher education 
institutions, partnerships with employers are 
producing a workforce with the ambition and 
skills to make the city a leader in research and 
new technologies. 

The recent ‘Inspiring Bradford’ programme saw 
a wide range of professionals from every sector 
including local and national business leaders 
come into Bradford’s schools. They gave pupils 
a vital message: that gender, ethnicity, wealth 
or where you live should not stop you achieving 
your potential. 

This plan confirms the commitment of the 
Department for Education, schools across 
Bradford, and our partners in the local authority, 
business and the community, to making that 
message a reality for every pupil in the city. 

I am hugely grateful to all those who have 
contributed to the development of this 
ambitious plan and all to those who will be 
working together to deliver it. Improving 
social mobility is essential for an effective and 
high performing economy. It is also a moral 
imperative that every young person should be 
able to achieve their potential. I look forward 
to seeing this delivery plan in action.

The Rt Hon Damian Hinds MP 
Secretary of State for Education

GET IN TOUCH

opportunityareas.bradford@education.gov.uk

@BradfordOppArea

Page 21



Our vision

6  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

A message from the Chair of the partnership board

Achieving more for 
Bradford’s young people 
by working together

Bradford is a great city 
and its children and young 
people deserve high quality 
education, opportunities and 

support. Through the Opportunity Area, we are 
bringing together Bradford’s best headteachers, 
its world-leading researchers, local voluntary 
sector and international business partners, all 
committing to work together with national and 
local government to deliver this plan. 

I am passionate about working with others 
to make Bradford’s social mobility aspirations 
a reality. I grew up in one of the poorest 
postcodes in Yorkshire and attended a school 
where fewer than one in five children secured 
decent GCSEs. My life was transformed by 
a university summer school and the brilliant 
education it unlocked for me. I share my story 
because it shows what is possible when 

people are given a chance. It shows that 
talent can be found in every nook and cranny, 
if you look hard enough. I have dedicated my 
career to helping talented young people from 
less-advantaged backgrounds to access and 
succeed in higher education.

Thank you to those who have worked hard 
to deliver this blueprint for the Bradford 
Opportunity Area. Whether you are a young 
person, parent or education professional, 
please do get in touch and tell us your thoughts 
about this plan and ideas about how we can 
increase opportunity through education for 
young people in Bradford. We achieve more 
for our young people by working together.

Anne-Marie Canning
Independent Chair of Bradford Opportunity 
Area partnership board

Page 22



• Evidence based interventions – we will 
ensure value for money and impact by 
insisting that activities are funded only 
where there is strong evidence that they 
will make a difference. Our EEF Research 
School1 will help schools across the city 
develop expertise in using research to inform 
teaching, as well as helping schools test and 
grow innovative practice. 

Bradford has embraced the Opportunity Area 
programme, with local leaders encouraging 
the board to be ambitious. Our goals for the 
programme are challenging, but we believe 
they are achievable, because of the strength 
of our partnership and the potential of this 
exciting city. 

Our principles

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 7

Our vision

This plan confirms the goals, themes of work 
and activities that the partnership board will 
deliver, over the life of the Opportunity Area 
programme. In designing and delivering this 
plan, partnership board members and the 
Department for Education are committing to 
the following principles:

• This is a plan for Bradford and will be 
a plan led by Bradford – we will seek 
every opportunity to give young people, 
teachers, school leaders, employers and 
other partners, the authority and the means 
to lead our work.

• A partnership approach to ‘place-based’ 
working – we will work together to make 
decisions on how to focus our expertise, 
time and money. These will be driven solely 
by the needs of Bradford’s children. We will 
use local providers when we can, but we will 
seek and welcome support from the best 
regional and national providers, where they 
bring expertise, capacity and commitment 
to partnership. 

1 The Research Schools Network is a collaboration between the Education Endowment Foundation (EEF) and the Institute for Effective 
Education (IEE) to fund a network of schools which will support the use of evidence to improve teaching practice.

Page 23



Our four priorities

Our vision

8  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

In setting its priorities, the partnership board 
has focused on areas where the Opportunity 
Area’s time and resources can achieve the 
best combination of short-term impact and 
sustainability, balancing action to support the 
majority of young people and help for those 
facing the most severe challenges.

• Priority 1 – Strengthening school 
leadership and the quality of teaching

Making Bradford a great city to build a career 
in education, by investing in recruitment, 
development, progression and retention of 
the best teachers and leaders.

• Priority 2 – Improving literacy in 
Bradford’s primary schools, particularly 
for disadvantaged pupils

Bringing together local, regional and 
national expertise and resources to 
help Bradford’s schools improve literacy, 
starting with primary schools. 

• Priority 3 – Improving access to 
rewarding careers

Investing in schools, to drive up the quality 
of careers and enterprise education and 
create a culture of high expectations. 
Also investing in children and young people, 
through targeted programmes to raise 
aspirations and help them develop essential 
skills for life and work.

• Priority 4 – Using evidence and research 
to remove barriers to learning

Improving early identification of and support 
for health issues that are limiting learning, 
by bringing into schools research-based 
interventions and support from the health 
sector. In the longer term, investing to 
make evidence led, cross sector working 
between health and education professionals 
a feature of Bradford’s work with children 
and young people.

In prioritising work with schools, we have 
made a difficult choice not to focus on areas 
like early years or post-16. We are however, 
committed to working with partners leading 
improvement in these sectors – like the Better 
Start programme, already working at scale to 
raise the quality of early years education in the 
city – so where our interests and programmes 
align, we will seek to join up, share learning 
and resources. 

Page 24



Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 9
Page 25



IMPROVING 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
BRADFORD’S CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Page 26



Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 11

Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people

The Bradford context: a young, dynamic city

• Bradford is the youngest major city in the 
UK. 24% of the population is under sixteen 
and nearly 42% of the population is under 
302. We are determined to help the city 
realise the potential of a young, ambitious 
and well-educated population. 

• Of the 370,000 pupils taught in the twelve 
Opportunity Areas, more than a quarter live 
in Bradford.

• Bradford has a diverse population. Over a 
third of its population are from minority ethnic 
backgrounds and 153 languages are spoken 
by children attending its schools. As a ‘City 
of Sanctuary’, Bradford is committed to 
continuing to welcome and support refugees, 
and international new arrivals. 

• Bradford’s economy is growing fast. 
At £10 billion, Bradford has the ninth largest 
economy of any city in England and the fifth 
largest in the North. The city’s economy 
has grown by 32% over the last ten years, 
making it the fastest growing economy in 
Yorkshire and second only to Manchester 
in the North3. It is forecast to expand by a 
further 25% over the next decade4.

 A city of enterprise. Bradford has a powerful 
culture of enterprise and the number of 
businesses has increased significantly over 
the past three years, rising faster than Leeds 
City Region and UK growth rates. Bradford is 
now home to 17,620 businesses employing 
194,000 people5, with a further 35,500 
people self-employed6.

•

2 https://datahub.bradford.gov.uk/ebase/districtdashboardiyp.eb?ebd=0&ebp=10&ebz=1_1513337501432
3 https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/regionalgvaibylocalauthorityintheuk
4 Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership, Regional Econometric Model, Nov 2017 data run
5 Local Authority county – Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES): Table 5 – Provisional 2016 (2nd October 2017)
6 Register and Employment Survey: open access – Employment Status – 2016 figure  

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/components/simpleapicomponent.aspx?menuopt=78&subcomp=

Page 27

https://datahub.bradford.gov.uk/ebase/districtdashboardiyp.eb?ebd=0&ebp=10&ebz=1_1513337501432
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/regionalgvaibylocalauthorityintheuk
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/components/simpleapicomponent.aspx?menuopt=78&subcomp=


Building on strong foundations

12  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people

• Bradford’s Education Covenant helps 
businesses, public services, parents and 
communities identify and make meaningful 
commitments to support Bradford’s schools 
and children. The city’s ‘Industrial Centres 
of Excellence’ bring together employers 
from different industrial sectors, making 
it easier for them to link up with schools. 
The Bradford Pathways model supports 
pupils, schools and employers to think 
about their education and career choices, 
by mapping the learning and skills needed 
to access different professions, from 
essential life skills to higher learning. 2017’s 
‘Inspiring Bradford’ week demonstrated the 
commitment of local, regional and national 
employers to bringing the world of work 
into the classroom, engaging and inspiring 
children and young people across the city.

• At a regional level, West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority and Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) use their links to public and 
private sector employers to bring businesses 
and schools together, as well as providing 
additional resources to help schools and 
parents provide high quality careers and 
enterprise education, information, advice 
and guidance. 

• Improving the quality of school 
governors – the local authority has been 
undertaking a range of activity to increase 
the recruitment of governors, working with 
the National Governance Association and 
local organisations to recruit governors who 
are appropriately skilled for the role. Bradford 
can also call on the support of nine National 
Leaders of Governance (NLGs) to support 
governance of its schools.

• The ‘Bradford Talent Bank’ has already 
placed 200 high quality newly qualified 
teachers (NQTs) in Bradford’s schools. 
Strengthened partnerships with teacher 
training providers now provide schools 
with access to more than 600 graduating 
teachers each year.

• High quality support – Bradford has 33 
outstanding schools7, ten well-respected 
teaching schools and eighteen National 
Leaders of Education8, all committed to 
driving up standards through collaboration. 

• Over the past two years, around 100 
Bradford heads and senior school leaders 
have signed up for development training, 
helping create a talent pool of future leaders. 

7 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/maintained-schools-and-academies-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2017
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/maintained-schools-and-academies-inspections-and-outcomes-official-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage


Recent improvements in attainment offer 
a springboard to further success

• Improving standards across all phases 
of education – while the percentage of 
pupils achieving expected standards in 
reading, writing and maths (combined) at 
the end of key stage 2 is below the national 
average (56% in Bradford compared to 
61% nationally), 2016/17 results show 
Bradford improving at a faster rate than 
nationally. This year, Bradford’s primary 
schools achieved a nine percentage point 
gain in the number of pupils reaching 
expected standards in reading, writing and 
maths (combined) at the end of key stage 2. 
In secondary education, Progress 8 scores 
from 2016 to 2017 show Bradford as the 
fourth most improved local authority area in 
the country. 

• Better early years outcomes for 
disadvantaged pupils – as part of a district 
wide integrated early years strategy, Better 
Start Bradford is committing £50 million over 
ten years, working with the 0-4 age group to 
improve outcomes. This investment is already 
paying off with improvements in the number 
of pupils aged five achieving a good level of 
development and above national averages for 
pupils eligible for free school meals (FSM). 

• Progression to further and higher education 
– 88% of pupils at the end of key stage 4 in 
2014 stayed in sustained education in 2015, 
a figure slightly below the national average 
of 91%. However, 54% of pupils completing 
key stage 5 in 2014 progressed to university 
in 2015, which was higher than the national 
average of 49%.

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 13

Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people

Page 29



Why is Bradford an Opportunity Area?

While the city has much to offer its children 
and young people, there are still huge 
challenges.

• Bradford was ranked 277th out of 324 local 
authority districts in the 2016 Social Mobility 
Index9. The index compares the chances that 

a child from a disadvantaged background 
will do well at school and get a good job. 
In the most recent Social Mobility Index 
(2017) Bradford ranked 254th10, reflecting 
the progress made in early years education, 
but highlighting the continuing challenges 
in primary and secondary education11.

Percentage of pupils eligible for FSM in secondary school by Ofsted rating 
(January 2017)

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

7%

36%

34%

22%

7%

20%

55%

18%

Bradford England

Outstanding Good Requires improvement Inadequate

Source: School Census, Ofsted

Percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths at the end of key stage 2 (2016)

Disadvantaged
pupils

All pupils

54%

47%

39%

34%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 100%90%80%

Bradford England

Source: Revised KS2 assessment data

Average Attainment 8 scores of pupils at the end of key stage 4 (2016)

Disadvantaged
pupils

All pupils

50.1

45.7

41.2

38.6

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Bradford England

Source: Revised KS4 attainment data

Percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard in reading 
at the end of key stage 1 (2016)

FSM pupils

All pupils

74%

70%

60%

59%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Bradford England

Source: National Pupil Database

14  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people

9 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data
11 Within this plan, the ‘disadvantaged’ group varies depending on the Department for Education data source. However, they all include the 

number of pupils who were eligible for free school meals at any point in the previous six years. For further details about the specific definition of 
‘disadvantage’ for each Department for Education data source, see the ‘Education statistics by local authority, district and pupil disadvantage’ 
release found on the Department for Education Statistics page.

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data


Our key challenges

• On average, and based on published data 
for 2016, attainment in Bradford’s schools 
tends to fall below the national average on 
most key measures of attainment and at 
every key stage of education. 

• The challenge goes beyond low attainment. 
Headteachers, employers and other key 

stakeholders have described what they see 
as a culture of low expectations across the 
city. They have made clear the urgent need 
to attract more great teachers, school leaders 
and professionals who can drive up standards 
and broaden young people’s horizons.

Key attainment measures for Bradford (2016)

Age

FSM

Above national average * Area in the lowest performing 
 sixth of districts nationally

** Key stage 2 combined Reading, 
 Writing and Maths attainment

Below national average

1 2 3

57%

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 +

%
achieving

GLD

59%

Reading

53%

Writing

60%

Maths

30%

% of pupils
at expected
standards**

% 19 y/o
qualified
to level 3

37%

Attainment
8 score

35%

All 66%* 70%* 65% 70% 47%* 46%* 50%

EYFS Key
stage 1

Key
stage 4

Key
stage 5

Key
stage 2

(All figures are rounded to whole numbers) 

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 15

Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people

Source: Revised DfE attainment data

Page 31



STRENGTH THROUGH 
PARTNERSHIP

Page 32



Bradford’s Opportunity Area partnership board

The Bradford Opportunity Area partnership 
board brings together senior leaders from 
schools, communities, businesses, central 
and local government with a shared passion 
and commitment to give Bradford’s young 
people the opportunities they deserve. 
Our board members are recognised for their 
understanding of, and expertise in, responding 
to the issues described in this plan. 

The board will meet regularly to oversee 
implementation of this plan, working 
alongside the Department for Education and 
other national organisations to ensure that 
the programme is coherent, effective and 
represents good value for money.

Independent Chair
• Anne-Marie Canning: Director of 

Widening Participation and Social Mobility, 
Kings College, London

Partnership board members
• Christian Bunting: Director, Bradford Birth 

to 19 Teaching School Alliance

• Sue Cooke: Executive Head of Economic 
Services, Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP)

• Duncan Jacques: CEO and Executive 
Principal, Exceed Academies Trust

• Michael Jameson: Strategic Director, 
Bradford Council Children’s Services

• Paul Lewis: Director of Government 
Relations, The Careers & Enterprise 
Company

• Adeeba Malik: Deputy Chief Executive, 
Bradford Charity, QED

• Professor Mark Mon-Williams: Born in 
Bradford12

• Will Richardson: Senior Partner, PwC

• Janice Stephenson: Headteacher, 
Newby Primary School

• Sir Nick Weller: CEO and Executive 
Principal of Dixons Academy Trust – 
Bradford’s EEF Research School

The meetings are also attended by the 
Department for Education’s Head of Delivery, 
Area Lead and the Regional Schools 
Commissioner for Lancashire and West 
Yorkshire, who provide advice and support 
to the partnership board.“The Opportunity Area will help change 

the lives of young people in Bradford. This 
collaboration across key local stakeholders 
will help to develop and support practical 
solutions to help raise social mobility. 
We are passionate about working with our 
local communities to make a deep impact 
that will last for generations.”

Will Richardson, PwC

“Bradford is an exciting, diverse and vibrant 
place to live. I see this as a wonderful 
opportunity for us to ensure all our young 
people are given the best possible chance 
to fulfil their future ambitions”

Janice Stephenson, Headteacher, 
Newby Primary School

Strength through partnership

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 17

12  Born in Bradford is one of the world’s largest research studies tracking the health and wellbeing of over 13,500 children and their parents born 
at Bradford Royal Infirmary between March 2007 and December 2010

Page 33



Our national partners

We are committed to working in partnership 
with local, regional and national organisations, 
to make sure this programme is a success. 
These include the following national partner 
organisations. Each is committing significant 
resources, advice and support to every 
Opportunity Area, including Bradford.

The Careers & 
Enterprise Company 
(CEC) is a national 
network that connects 
schools and colleges, 

employers and career programme providers. 
Every secondary school and post-16 provider 
in Bradford will have access to an Enterprise 
Adviser, a senior business volunteer to support 
schools to access at least four high quality 
business encounters for their pupils, equating 
to around 150,000 high quality meaningful 
encounters with employers over the life of 
the programme. 

To help achieve these ambitious plans, the CEC 
has recruited six ‘cornerstone’ employers, each 
committing to work with schools, to inspire, 
advise and support young people: 

• Adecco – One of the leading and largest 
employment and recruitment organisations 
in the country is offering students in Bradford 
the opportunity to be a branch manager for 
a week and providing work experience.

• Barclays – The Barclays LifeSkills 
programme enables students to get the 
skills and experiences they need to enter the 
world of work. In Bradford, this will include 
mentoring, skills building and workplace 
visits for a targeted cohort of students.

Strength through partnership

18  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

• Burberry – The global luxury brand will 
offer a range of support to both students 
and teachers through their Yorkshire based 
northern hub. Activities will include teacher 
inspiration days and continuous professional 
development (CPD) sessions, student 
mentoring, workplace visits and a creative 
industry toolkit of resources.

• Lloyds Banking Group – Utilising the 
existing Lloyds Bank schools programme and 
targeting it to Bradford schools.

• Mantra Media – A digital marketing 
company with offices in Yorkshire working 
with clients across the globe, engaging and 
inspiring Bradford students through projects 
and visits.

• PwC – The multi-national professional 
services firm will engage students in a range 
of careers and enterprise outreach activities.

The Education 
Endowment 
Foundation (EEF) 
is an independent 
charity dedicated to 

breaking the link between family income and 
educational achievement. EEF will support 
the partnership board and Bradford to make 
the best use of evidence about what works 
in educational improvement. 

Together with the Institute for Effective 
Education, EEF will support Bradford’s 
new ‘EEF Research School’, based at 
Dixons Academy Trust. The Bradford EEF 
Research School, which has a seat on our 
partnership board, will champion the use 
of evidence to improve teaching across the 
area and accelerate improvement across 
Bradford’s schools. 

Page 34



The Bradford EEF Research School will focus 
its initial programme of work and support on 
three areas: 

1. Improving literacy at key stages 1 and 
2 (informed by the latest guidance from 
the EEF).

2. Cognition and memory (curriculum design, 
memorable lessons and revision and the 
new GCSEs).

3. An adapted ‘Leading Learning’ 
programme (this will aim to focus on 
teacher development, supporting wider 
work by the Opportunity Area and 
‘Bradford for Teaching’, to improve 
recruitment and retention).

National Citizen Service 
builds essential skills for life 
and work, investing in our 
country’s future talent – they are 
working to ensure that more 

of Bradford’s young people can experience 
and benefit from this four week programme 
of personal development and volunteering. 
In 2016, 16% of Bradford’s eligible young 
people completed the National Citizen Service 
programme, slightly higher than the national 
average of 15%, and in doing so delivered over 
35,000 hours of social action. 

Our aim is that every young person who seeks 
a place on the programme can access it. 
By working collaboratively with the Council 
we will identify those disadvantaged, harder to 
reach young people most in need and those 
from incoming communities to support them 
to enrol and complete the National Citizen 
Service Programme. This unique and innovative 
relationship has meant National Citizen Service 
graduates have spoken at a number of council 

Strength through partnership

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 19

meetings across Bradford to support the 
youth voice within the city and engage key 
local officials. National Citizen Service and its 
partners will achieve its aims by building tailored 
enrichment activity and pre-National Citizen 
Service programmes for secondary pupils to 
support their requirements and build aspirations 
to participate in these programmes.   

Page 35



This is a plan for young people in Bradford. We are committed to empowering young people to 
influence and lead its delivery, as well as evaluating and holding us to account on the impact of 
our work.

We will ensure young people are at the heart of our plan 

Listening to views • We have had initial conversations with young people in Bradford 
to find out more about the issues that matter to them. We will 
expand these discussions over the coming weeks and months with 
the help of the local authority youth service and Bradford’s Youth 
Voice Framework.

Influencing change • We will ask Bradford’s Young People’s Challenge Panels to work with 
us, employers, teachers and other organisations, to shape and deliver 
our package of investment in life skills and aspiration. 

• We will establish and maintain a dialogue with young people, 
parents and the community. We will be transparent and proactive in 
communicating our plans, our progress, and opportunities for young 
people to work with us.

Co-production • We will ask young people to be our ambassadors for the programme. 
We will seek out young people between 10-20 years old, with a 
strong commitment to social mobility and an inspirational story to 
tell, bringing our aims to life. We will ask our ambassadors to help 
us consult with and represent their peers, finding and celebrating 
success stories, and helping us spot and respond to problems.

Research and 
Evaluation

• We will commission new qualitative research to understand young 
people’s views on the barriers to success and how to overcome 
or remove them. This will give us a starting point for measuring our 
achievements in Bradford. 

• Our programme evaluation will also allow us to assess how we are 
improving outcomes for young people in Bradford.

“It’s hard for young people to see a way 
to a future as there is a lot of uncertainty 
about the jobs and opportunities available.”

Bradford young person

“The Opportunity Area is an opportunity to 
bring positive role models to young people 
– those that can speak for Bradford in a 
positive way and talk about its good points 
beyond Bradford.”

Bradford young person

Strength through partnership

20  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan
Page 36



Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 21
Page 37



OUR PRIORITIES

Page 38



Priority 1: Strengthening school leadership and the quality 
of teaching

Why this is an issue

Despite recent improvements, average attainment scores for Bradford remain below the 
national average. In 2016, only 47% of pupils achieved expected levels of attainment in 
the combined measure of reading, writing and maths at key stage 2, against 54% nationally. 
At key stage 4, the average attainment 8 score in Bradford was 45.7 compared to 50.1 
nationally. Outcomes were worse for disadvantaged pupils: only 34% achieved expected 
levels in the combined measure of reading, writing and maths at key stage 2, compared to 
39% nationally13. 

According to the January 2017 school census, disadvantaged children in Bradford are still 
less likely to attend a school rated by Ofsted as outstanding or good (as at 31 December 
2016)14. Only 75% of free school meals (FSM) pupils are attending primary schools rated 
as outstanding or good compared to 88% nationally. The picture is bleaker at secondary, 
where only 44% of FSM pupils are attending schools rated as good or better in 
Bradford, compared to 73% nationally.

Ofsted data (August 2017) suggests that overall, some 26,000 Bradford children are 
attending schools judged by Ofsted to require improvement or as inadequate.

2016 research by the Social Market 
Foundation and Education Datalab showed 
that teachers working in schools in 
disadvantaged communities are likely to 
be less experienced and to lack specialist 
qualifications in their subject area than 
those working in more advantaged areas. 
Turnover of teachers tends to be highest 
in these schools. The Sutton Trust’s 2011 
report, ‘Improving the impact of teachers 
on pupil achievement in the UK,’ stated that 
‘for poor pupils the difference between a 
good teacher and a bad teacher is a whole 
year’s learning.15’

Percentage of schools rated as requiring 
improvement or inadequate by Ofsted (2010-2017)

50%

30%

20%

10%

0%

40%
40%

33%
30% 31%

22%
20%

16%
12% 11%

35%
38%

24%

32%
36%

26%
28%

Bradford England

Aug
2010

Aug
2011

Aug
2012

Aug
2013

Aug
2014

Aug
2015

Aug
2016

Aug
2017

Source: OfstedSource: Ofsted

Source: Ofsted

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 23

Our priorities

13 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage
15 http://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/2teachers-impact-report-final.pdf

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage
http://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/2teachers-impact-report-final.pdf


Ofsted’s judgements (August 2017) show that in 23% of Bradford’s primary schools and 
40% of its secondary schools, the quality of teaching, learning and assessment was 
rated as inadequate or requiring improvement.

School leaders have told us that recruiting 
staff is not significantly harder in Bradford 
(the Department for Education’s figures 
on teacher supply support this), but 
schools serving the most vulnerable and 
disadvantaged pupils struggle to attract 
top quality teachers and leaders. Retention 
can also be an issue, particularly for schools 
outside the larger academy chains, because 
of the challenge of offering aspirational 
teachers affordable, high quality training and 
a longer term career pathway. 

Bradford is not without strong school leaders. 
22% of schools in the city are currently 
judged outstanding by Ofsted for leadership 
and management, but in 21% of schools, 
leadership requires improvement or has 
been judged inadequate16. 

New initiatives offer potential to build 
quality into the school system, notably 
‘Bradford for Teaching’, a campaign 
commissioned by Bradford Council and 
led by the Northern Lights Teaching School 
Alliance, to attract and develop teachers 
and leaders. In addition, the city’s eight 
teaching schools and local authority backed 
CPD portal provide a range of development 
opportunities. 

Despite these investments, there are still important gaps in the offer, limiting the city’s 
ability to attract and retain strong leaders and teachers. Headteachers and other system 
leaders have identified a lack of access to training and support (including peer networks) for 
both recently qualified and more experienced teachers, middle and senior leaders. There 
is also a lack of coordination and targeting of the offer – including from teaching schools – 
making it harder to identify and support schools who need help as well as a need to improve 
communications on the offer and how to access it.

Percentage of schools rated by Ofsted on quality of 
teaching, learning and assessment (2017)

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

77%

23%

91%

9%

60%

40%

80%

20%

76%

24%

89%

11%

Bradford England Bradford England Bradford England

Outstanding or good Requires improvement or inadequate

All schoolsSecondaryPrimary

Source: Ofsted August 2017

Percentage of schools rated by Ofsted on 
effectiveness of leadership and management (2017)

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

79%

21%

92%

8%

72%

28%

83%

17%

79%

21%

91%

9%

Outstanding or good Requires improvement or inadequate

Bradford England Bradford England Bradford England

All schoolsSecondaryPrimary

Source: Ofsted August 2017

24  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

16 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-district-and-pupil-disadvantage


What we will do

The Opportunity Area will focus its investments in leadership and teaching across three areas: 

1. Direct provision of training and development for leaders, and improve the quality of teaching. 
This will include drawing down additional support from the Department for Education’s wider 
programmes and investing Opportunity Area funding to supplement them. 

2. Investing in Bradford’s system leaders, so they can offer more support to schools. This will 
include work by National Leaders in Education (NLE), Specialist Leaders in Education (SLE) 
and National Leaders in Governance (NLG) based in and around Bradford, to make sure 
the right resources reach schools needing support.

3. Asking and resourcing Bradford’s school leaders to design an enhanced offer of support 
and development, to attract education professionals to the city and help them build their 
career in Bradford. 

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 25

Our priorities

Page 41



1. Direct provision of training and development 

As an Opportunity Area, Bradford is being prioritised for support through the Teaching and 
Leadership Innovation Fund, with an offer for 2017/18 including mastery of teaching and 
whole-school approaches to teacher development, as well as subject specific programmes. 
We will work with the following providers to help them target their offer to those schools who 
will benefit most.

• The Institute for Teaching – Supporting three target groups: school leaders, leaders of 
teacher development and ‘high leverage’ (influential) teachers to develop expert teaching 
practice across their schools.

• Teach First – The ‘Leading Together’ programme will develop resilient school leaders able 
to build strong leadership teams to embed high quality training, development and support 
for teachers in their schools.

• Aspire to Science Technology, Engineering and Mathematics Learning (STEM Learning) 
– Professional development for teachers on Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths 
(STEM) provision alongside extensive STEM inspiration and enrichment activities.

• Future Physics Leaders Programme (Institute of Physics) – Professional development 
support to specialist and non-specialist physics teachers.

Given the scale of concern about the quality of teaching in Bradford, we will also fund training 
and support for school leaders with responsibility for teachers’ CPD. This will help to build 
schools’ longer term capacity for improvement. We will prioritise for funding the 55 schools 
identified by Ofsted as weakest for the quality of teaching. We will ask our EEF Research 
School to help us identify training with robust evidence of its impact. We will also work with 
the local authority, Regional Schools Commissioner and, where applicable, multi-academy 
trust leadership teams, to ensure our offer complements any existing intervention strategies, 
and that schools have the capacity to take it up. 

Bradford’s school leaders and aspiring leaders will also benefit from a Department for 
Education targeted programme offering access to fully funded places on nationally 
recognised leadership training courses (National Professional Qualifications or NPQs). 
There are qualifications available to support middle leaders through to experienced heads 
seeking to step up as chief executives (or ‘executive principals’) of multi-academy trusts. 
We see this investment in growing Bradford’s leadership capacity as critical to sustaining 
its capacity to improve, and we will work with ‘Bradford for Teaching’ to ensure incoming 
leaders are aware of these and other opportunities.

26  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 42



2. Investing in Bradford’s system leaders to increase support to schools

As this plan makes clear, there are excellent schools and excellent system leaders in 
Bradford. We want to make it easier for them to identify, reach and support those who 
need help quickly. 

Over the life of the programme, we will provide funding to allow a team drawn from across 
Bradford’s teaching schools, NLEs, SLEs and NLGs to act as brokers of support for 
schools, working with headteachers and governing bodies to diagnose and respond swiftly 
to their challenges, as well as identifying leaders with talent and potential. The Opportunity 
Area partnership board will ensure that this work complements and does not duplicate 
investments made through the Strategic School Improvement Fund (SSIF) and other national 
programmes. We will also look to our system leaders’ diagnostic work to make it easier for 
SSIF providers and others to provide the support that Bradford needs. 

We will also work with our partners, including ‘Inspiring Governance’ and ‘Academy 
Ambassadors’, and with local employers engaged through the Bradford Covenant, 
to recruit new, high quality governors to Bradford’s schools. This will include participation in 
‘Future Chairs’, part of the Inspiring Governance offer, designed to identify and support the 
development of effective chairs of governing bodies.

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 27

Our priorities

Page 43



3. An offer for Bradford’s school leaders, designed by Bradford’s 
school leaders

In line with our commitment to a ‘Bradford led’ plan, we will offer school leaders, supported 
by our EEF Research School, the opportunity to lead the design of an enhanced development 
and progression offer for leaders and teachers. This will include:

• ‘Master classes’, covering evidence based practice in education, focusing on Bradford’s 
specific demographic and cultural characteristics.

• Networks for current and future leaders to share best practice, provide peer support, 
and help address some of the more systematic leadership issues.

• A collaborative approach to deploying and growing the best teachers including 
secondments between schools to spread effective practice and aid individual’s 
development, as well as provide short to medium term capacity to weaker schools, 
and access to training, mentoring and advice on career development.

We also recognise that for schools in a city the size of Bradford, there can be a practical 
challenge to finding and accessing the right support and training. Providers, including local 
system leaders, can find it hard to target their offer quickly and effectively, because it is not 
always clear who needs what support. To help schools access the right support quickly, 
we will provide resources for:

• Collation and communication of the offer to schools. Ensuring interventions provide 
evidence of their impact and information on cost and eligibility criteria. This will include 
information and access to the offer from local system leaders as described under part two 
of this priority.

• Information sharing with local, regional and national providers, ensuring they have a clear 
sense of the specific needs and demand for support and training.

We would expect this activity to benefit all schools, including those working with the 
Regional Schools Commissioner, local authority and academy sponsors, to address 
underperformance. Schools performing well should also benefit from help to develop 
high potential staff and to identify and embed best practice across the curriculum.

28  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 44



Our 2018 activities will include:

• 50 senior or middle leaders from Bradford schools to have started their National 
Professional Qualification leadership courses. 

• 50 senior or middle leaders to have been assigned a mentor providing half a day support 
per term. 

• Development of a menu of leadership master classes for Bradford’s senior and 
middle leaders.

• Support three schools to improve the quality of their teaching across the whole school, 
targeted phonics support for three schools, STEM (science, technology, engineering and 
maths) support for six schools, and a Physics Leaders Programme for ten teachers.

Our targets for 2020/21 are: 

• By 2020/21, more than half of the 50 schools that are currently rated by 
Ofsted as requires improvement or inadequate will be improved by at least 
one Ofsted grade. 

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 29

Our priorities

Page 45



Priority 2: Improving literacy in Bradford’s primary schools, 
particularly for disadvantaged pupils

Why this is an issue

Literacy is essential to understanding and success in every subject. It is also vital as an 
underpinning skill for social and emotional development. A lack of capability in written and 
spoken English is the concern most frequently raised by employers. Where English is not 
spoken or is not the first language at home, schools can face an additional challenge in 
engaging parents and carers to support their children’s learning.

Across Bradford, the data shows a pattern of low attainment in literacy at every stage of 
learning, with disadvantaged pupils falling furthest behind. 

• 2016 Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) data showed the proportion of children meeting 
the expected level of development for speaking, writing and reading in Bradford was 
between two or three percentage points lower than the national average.

• At key stage 1, only 70% of Bradford’s pupils achieved the expected standard in reading, 
four percentage points below the national average. 64% achieved the expected standard in 
writing, one percentage point behind the national average.

• At key stage 2, 57% of Bradford’s pupils achieved the expected standard for reading, nine 
percentage points behind the national average. For boys, standards are lower, only 54% of 
boys reached the expected standard, making them among the worst performing groups in 
West Yorkshire.

Percentage of pupils reaching the expected 
standard in reading at the end of key stage 2 (2016)

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

46%
53%

64%

73%

57%
66%

Bradford England

All pupilsNon-disadvantaged 
pupils

Disadvantaged pupils

Source: Revised KS2 assessment data 

Percentage of pupils reaching the expected 
standard in reading at the end of key stage 1 (2016)

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

59% 60%

72%
77%

70%
74%

Bradford England

All pupilsNon-FSM pupilsFSM pupils

Source: National Pupil Database

30  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 46



• At key stage 4, 51.3% of disadvantaged  
pupils achieved the English component  
of the EBacc which is below the national  
average of 58.6%.

Average Attainment 8 scores of pupils at the 
end of key stage 4: English component (2016)

14

10

8

2

0

12

6

4

8.5
9.1

10.5
11.1

9.8
10.6

Bradford England

All pupilsNon-disadvantaged 
pupils

Disadvantaged pupils

Source: Revised KS4 attainment data

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 31

Our priorities

What we will do 

Through a programme and campaign led by the National Literacy Trust, Bradford is already 
making a significant investment in early reading in school and at home. Improvements in 
literacy in primary education suggest this and other programmes are helping to improve 
standards. Consolidating these improvements is essential for pupils to be ready for 
secondary education and for secondary schools to avoid spending time helping pupils 
catch up. 

We will drive improvement and build capacity in primary literacy through:

• Support to improve phonics – delivered by the respected provider Ruth Miskin Training 
and funded through the Teaching and Leadership Innovation Fund (TLIF), we will provide 
‘whole-school’ literacy training and development for up to ten primary schools. We will 
encourage schools in the most need of phonics support to take up this offer. This will 
include schools with high numbers of disadvantaged pupils and those with the largest gap 
to reaching the expected level in reading and writing at key stage 2.

• Support drawn down from the Department for Education’s Strategic School Improvement 
Fund (SSIF), enabling Bradford’s teaching schools and multi-academy trusts to help 
primary schools improve literacy. We will prioritise projects aiming to reduce the attainment 
gap for disadvantaged pupils in literacy.

• Making best use of the expertise in literacy and capacity of Bradford’s teaching schools 
and system leaders to reach schools who are not able to access support from other DfE 
programmes and providers. 

Page 47



• Exploring the establishment of an English Hub, as announced in the Social Mobility 
Action Plan. 

• Investing in local communications activity to promote, celebrate and help pupils, families 
and schools to enjoy and improve their literacy skills. This will include making links to 
established local events, like the Bradford Literature Festival.  

While our immediate focus is on primary literacy, we recognise the need to close gaps in 
overall attainment and the attainment of disadvantaged pupils, from secondary to post-16 
and beyond. Once we are confident that our investments in primary are making a difference 
to practice, we will:

• Seek support from SSIF and other programmes and providers, to drive up the quality of 
teaching in literacy and oracy, and provide support to pupils falling furthest behind. We will 
take advice from our EEF Research School on the most effective programmes to invest in. 

• Consult employers, the Local Enterprise Partnership and local further and higher education 
providers to find out what more we could do on literacy/oracy for 16-19 year olds, to aid 
progression to employment and higher learning.

• Explore opportunities to work with the Ministry for Housing, Communities & Local 
Government on literacy programmes for families with English as an Additional Language, to 
build parents’ and carers’ ability to support children’s reading and writing. 

32  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 48



From 2018 our activities will include:

• The nine primary schools that have been ten percentage points below the national average 
for the past two years for phonics will be prioritised for support from Ruth Miskin Training, 
to drive improvement. Ruth Miskin Training will work initially with three primary schools, 
adding at least three more each year over the life of the programme. 

• Supported by a combination of the SSIF and Opportunity Area local commissioning, we will 
enable Bradford’s best performing primary schools to support the 30 lowest performing 
schools for key stage 2 literacy, to aim to improve attainment overall and narrow the gap 
between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils in reading and writing.

Our targets for 2020/21 are: 

• By 2020/21 we will have closed the gap between the Bradford average and 
the national average in reading and in writing at key stage 1 and key stage 2 
by at least one percentage point each year from 2018. 

• By 2020/21, we will also have closed the reading and writing attainment gap between 
disadvantaged pupils and all pupils in Bradford by at least one percentage point each year 
from 2018.

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 33

Our priorities

Page 49



Priority 3: Improving access to rewarding careers

Why this is an issue

We know that educational attainment alone is not enough to improve social mobility. If young 
people do not have the right information or support to make effective choices, we cannot 
expect to see improvements in access to rewarding careers or changes in social mobility.

• In our conversations with school leaders, teachers, employers and professionals, the same 
concern has been repeated: Bradford has a culture of low expectations, which stops 
its young people aiming high and denies them the support to go further. We know 
that confidence, self-awareness and responsibility in relation to personal and social 
development are vital to raising aspirations and helping young people and their families 
make the best life choices. Helping young people develop these skills must therefore 
be part of our plan.

• There is no one specific piece of data that proves a lack of aspiration or expectation. 
The data we have collected suggests that across Bradford, families, children and young 
people’s ambitions and decisions about their education – both academic and cultural – 
and careers are being constrained by where they live. Their family income, experiences at 
school and in their local communities also play a role. As examples:

 – While Bradford performs better than average in respect to the proportion of students 
who progress to higher education after key stage 5 (54% of all students compared 
to 49% nationally and 50% of disadvantaged students compared to 44% nationally), 
the proportion who attend a top third higher education institution is below the national 
average (10% of all students compared to 17% nationally and 4% of disadvantaged 
students compared to 10% nationally).

 – The level of persistent pupil absence in Bradford’s primary and secondary schools is 
five percentage points higher than the national average, prompting the local authority to 
prioritise action on attendance in its latest Children’s Plan. 

34  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 50



What we will do 

We will invest in careers and enterprise education in schools 

The Gatsby Charitable Foundation’s Benchmarks17 provide a standard of excellence for 
careers education. The Gatsby Benchmarks are: a stable careers programme; learning from 
career and labour market information; addressing the needs of each pupil; linking curriculum 
learning to careers; encounters with employers and employees; experiences of workplaces; 
encounters with further and higher education; and personal guidance. 

As an Opportunity Area, Bradford’s schools are already guaranteed support to improve 
the quality of their careers and enterprise education. Schools are now using the Careers & 
Enterprise Company’s (CEC) ‘Compass’ tool to assess the quality of their careers provision. 
CEC, in partnership with Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership, will appoint three 
Enterprise Coordinators to help schools and colleges act on the results of their ‘Compass’ 
assessments, including developing a careers and enterprise and employer engagement plan. 
Each school and college will have access to an Enterprise Adviser (a senior volunteer from 
business), who will help to develop relationships with other local employers. To embed best 
practice in careers and employability, we will train careers leaders in schools to ensure that 
the action on careers and enterprise education, as described by the Gatsby Benchmarks, 
remain a priority for senior leaders and governors. 

Percentage of pupils at the end of key stage 5 in 2014 who went to a 
UK higher education institution in 2015

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

50%
44%

54%
49%

4%
10% 10%

17%

Bradford England

All pupilsDisadvantaged 
pupils

All pupilsDisadvantaged 
pupils

UK higher education institution Top third UK higher 
education institution

Source: Longitudinal Education Outcomes dataset

Persistent absence rates (2016 – New definition)

20%

10%

5%

0%

15%

10.5%

8.2%

15.7%

13.1%

Bradford England

Secondary schoolsPrimary schools

Source: School Census

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 35

Our priorities

17 http://www.gatsby.org.uk/education/focus-areas/good-career-guidance

Page 51

http://www.gatsby.org.uk/education/focus-areas/good-career-guidance


The Careers & Enterprise Company will ensure that every eleven to eighteen year old benefits 
from at least four high quality employer encounters over the life of the Opportunity Area 
programme. This follows research from the Education and Employers Taskforce which shows 
that a young person who has four or more encounters with an employer is 86% less likely 
to be unemployed or not in education or training, and can earn up to eighteen percent more 
during their career18. Delivering these four encounters will help schools achieve those Gatsby 
Benchmarks which relate to ‘encounters with employers’, and ‘experiences of workplaces’.

We want to go further. Once we have schools’ self-assessments from the Careers 
& Enterprise Compass tool, we will work with our Opportunity Area partner, PwC, to 
confirm the cost of helping every secondary school progress toward achieving the Gatsby 
Benchmarks. If possible, we will use Opportunity Area funding to support that work. 

We also recognise the importance of early engagement with the world of work. We will 
explore the potential to roll out a primary school careers programme, so that by key stage 2, 
children have already had a meaningful and inspiring encounter with an employer.

We will invest to broaden horizons and raise aspirations 

Investments in careers and enterprise education will help to create a culture of high 
expectations in schools. We also need to ensure that the aspirations of young people and 
their families are high, and that they have the skills and confidence to make effective choices 
in education, work and life. 

Employers repeatedly tell us that high aspirations, effective choices and ultimately, 
progression into rewarding work, are underpinned by effective communication skills, team 
working, resilience and other `essential life skills’. The evidence backs this up. As well as 
challenging assumptions about the type of career or learning pathway different pupils should 
or can take, and how high they should aim, we will also invest to help young people develop 
these skills.

• The Bradford Opportunity Area offer includes a tripling of resource from National Citizen 
Service. This investment will allow up to 2,400 fifteen to seventeen year olds to participate 
in its programmes, delivering up to 74,000 social action hours by 2021. We will link National 
Citizen Service to schools and local partners, to help them identify the young people who will 
benefit most from these opportunities.

18 https://www.educationandemployers.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/its_who_you_meet_final_26_06_12.pdf

36  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 52

https://www.educationandemployers.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/its_who_you_meet_final_26_06_12.pdf


• The Bradford Pathways illustrates for schools, learners and employers the learning and 
skills required to progress into different professions, starting with the core of essential life 
skills. We will invest in Bradford Pathways, funding programmes to help young people 
develop essential life skills. We will work with employers, providers and young people to 
ensure resources reach young people who will benefit most, and at the right point in their 
education, to improve choices. 

 – Programmes will be drawn down by schools working collaboratively through a shared 
responsibility for groups of young people. 

 – Procurement will be managed through the local authority and allocations will be made 
to schools according to the level of disadvantage in the community they serve. 

 – We will be open to funding organisations spanning culture, sports, education and 
beyond, provided they are able to demonstrate a track record in developing essential life 
skills and an understanding of the support young people in Bradford need. 

Our 2018 activities will include: 

• Support for up to 1,500 fifteen to seventeen year olds to access the National Citizen 
Service programme, delivering over 45,000 social action hours. 

• All secondary schools to have completed the CEC Compass careers mapping tool and a 
proposal to be put to the partnership board on further investment.

• Launching a minimum of five programmes to build essential life skills. 

Our targets for 2020/21 are:

• By 2021, every Bradford eleven to eighteen year old will have had the 
opportunity to benefit from at least four meaningful encounters with 
employers. This will equate to 150,000 encounters with employers.

• By 2021, we will have supported 2,400 five to eighteen year olds to develop essential life 
skills through Opportunity Area commissioned programmes, delivering nearly 74,000 hours 
of social action across Bradford.

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 37

Our priorities

Page 53



Priority 4: Using evidence and research to remove barriers  
to learning

Why this is an area of focus

Bradford is home to world leading research infrastructure including the Wolfson Centre 
partnership between the Universities of Bradford and Leeds, and the Bradford Institute 
of Health Research (BIHR). BIHR hosts one of the world’s most important ongoing cohort 
studies (Born in Bradford) providing a large and live platform for testing the impact of different 
interventions on outcomes for young people.

By linking health and education data at pupil and city level, the Born in Bradford team has 
developed new approaches to early identification of health issues known to impact on 
learning. In Bradford, these include higher than average incidence of neurodevelopmental 
problems, such as autism, as well as uncorrected eyesight issues and underdeveloped fine 
motor skills. These issues are proven to affect behaviour, cognition, reading and writing, 
as well as creating additional challenges for teachers, schools and support services.

For fine motor skills, we already have evidence that shows the potential for interventions 
to improve handwriting accuracy and speed, and in turn improve educational outcomes. 
At present, these interventions are not well known or widely delivered in schools.

The Born in Bradford team are already trialling innovative approaches to providing support 
more quickly to children affected by those issues, by enabling collaborative working between 
health and education professionals. In the simplest example, this means bringing optometry 
services into schools, responding to an estimated one third of the children in Bradford who 
have sight issues not attending appointments to get help (and then facing an obvious and 
serious challenge to reading and writing). 

We see Born in Bradford’s work with schools – which in many cases appears to have 
an immediate impact on learning – as genuinely innovative and potentially transformative, 
especially where we can look at ways to share best practice elsewhere. By investing 
to develop their research, help teachers learn from effective practice and – through 
communication and our influence as an Opportunity Area – helping schools build their 
relationship with health professionals, we believe we can remove barriers to learning and 
social mobility for pupils across the city and beyond.

38  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 54



Handwriting is a core feature of education 
associated with cognitive and literacy scores 
(McCarney et al. 2013). Moreover, early writing 
skills predict later attainment (Dinehart, 2014). 
Born in Bradford data suggest that around 
15% of primary school children would benefit 
from a motor skill intervention.

There is a correlation between untreated 
vision problems and impairment on reading 
development and academic performance 
(Kulp et al., 2016). The most common cause 
of poor eyesight in children is treatable 
uncorrected refractive errors (Palomo-Alvarez 
& Puell, 2008). Born in Bradford data shows 
16% of Bradford children need glasses but 
a quarter of these children do not attend the 
appointment for treatment. The evidence 
shows a direct impact on literacy.

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) occurs in 
1% of children nationally (estimated rates 
much higher in Bradford) and the behavioural 
problems that can be associated with ASD are 
a major cause of children being excluded from 
school (Baird et al, 2006). Early identification is 
of proven benefit but children with autism are 
often diagnosed after many years in school 
(causing major problems for schools). Born in 
Bradford has shown that educational data can 
identify ‘at risk’ children and allow treatment to 
be provided at the start of formal education. 

Percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard 
in writing at the end of key stage 1 (2016)

100%

60%

40%

20%

0%

80%

53% 50%

66% 68%
64% 65%

Bradford England

All pupilsNon-FSM pupilsFSM pupils

Source: National Pupil Database

Estimated number of children with vision problems 
in primary school and number without correction

12,000

0

10,000

8,000

6,000

4,000

2,000

9,570

2,572

Not correctedIdentified with problems

Source: Born in Bradford data 

Percentage of children in Bradford diagnosed with 
autism by mothers’ education status (2017)

2.0%

0%

1.5%

1.0%

0.5%

1.5%

0.7%

Lower levels of educationEducated to A-level or above

Source: Born in Bradford data 

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 39

Our priorities

Page 55



What we will do 

Investing in Bradford as a City of Research 

Working with Bradford’s EEF Research School, Born in Bradford and Bradford Council, 
with support from local universities, the clinical commissioning group and the Education 
Endowment Foundation, we will support the creation of an Education Innovation Hub, 
which will have two key aims: 

1. To link and use health and education data to identify opportunities to improve diagnosis of 
health issues affecting attainment, as well as driving development of innovative practice to 
help children, teachers and other professionals address these issues.

2. To lead and commission action research programmes to expand our understanding of what 
works in linking health and education; and by engaging more teachers, health professionals 
and the community in research, support Bradford’s ambition to become a ‘City of Research’. 

The first three areas of work for the hub and our partnership will be:

1. Improving literacy and reading 

Research shows a correlation between fine motor skills and attainment. There is evidence that by 
leading pupils through structured exercises in drawing, manipulation of objects and pen control, 
teachers can expect to secure fast improvements in reading and literacy. Working with the 
EEF, we will promote evidence based interventions on handwriting, training teachers, teaching 
assistants and Special Educational Needs co-ordinators (SENCOs) in 50 Bradford schools. 

In parallel, Born in Bradford and our health service partners will extend their current programme 
of support for children with uncorrected eyesight problems across 80 Bradford schools, where 
take up of glasses and other corrective interventions is low (creating an obvious challenge to 
improving children’s reading and writing). We would expect this work to complement our plans 
to improve literacy outcomes, as described under priority 2.

2. Working with schools to identify and support pupils with autism and other 
neurodevelopmental conditions

Born in Bradford’s research shows how education and health data can identify children at risk 
of neurodevelopmental conditions, like autism. These conditions impact directly on children’s 
learning, and can be a causal factor for behavioural problems, which create additional 
challenges for teachers and parents. Born in Bradford has identified ways to use Early Years 
Foundation Stage data to identify those children who may have autism. While this data is 
routinely collected by teachers and schools, it is not routinely shared with other local services 
or used for this purpose. Clearly, the earlier issues like autism can be identified, the sooner 
appropriate support can be provided in the classroom, including teachers adapting their 
practice. Early diagnosis also brings vital, practical support to teachers, through earlier 
access to pupil premium funding and support from specialist services. 

40  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan

Our priorities

Page 56



We will expand the existing trial of this work to reach at least 30 more schools. We will ask 
participating schools and the local authority to help us design an efficient approach to sharing 
pupil data to aid diagnosis. We are also aware that this work will inevitably lead to a rise in 
diagnoses of autism and similar disorders, and that this will create an additional challenge for 
teachers. We will offer training to teachers on supporting children with autism, so that they are 
more confident and capable in responding to their needs.

If over the life of the programme this approach works in Bradford, we will explore how it could 
expanded to other areas.

3. Identifying “what works” from existing educational data

We will also ask Born in Bradford and Bradford EEF Research School to help us evaluate the 
impact of our different interventions across the city to assess which have the potential to be 
effective elsewhere. 

Our 2018 activities will include: 

• Working with schools to train teachers, teaching assistants and SENCOs to deliver fine 
motor skill interventions to improve literacy rates at key stages 1 and 2. 

• Born in Bradford will work with up to 30 schools to assess and support the use of routine 
educational data to identify children at risk of Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
issues to provide targeted early intervention and reduce low level classroom disruption and 
absence issues. In parallel, Born in Bradford will deliver their own commitment to work with 
pupils in up to 80 schools, to ensure children with uncorrected eyesight receive glasses or 
other treatments. 

Our targets for 2020/21 are:

• By the end of 2019 (at the end of the first year of activity), we will see 
improvements of at least one percentage point in writing and reading 
attainment among pupils participating in the handwriting programme. 

• By 2020/21, over 100 schools will be participating in educational research activity. 

• Attract additional inward investment of at least £1m to Bradford (above and beyond 
Opportunity Area funding) for educational research.

Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan 41

Our priorities

Page 57



42  Bradford Opportunity Area – delivery plan
Page 58



Page 59



GET IN TOUCH

OpportunityAreas.Bradford@education.gov.uk

@BradfordOppArea

Bradford 

 ISBN
 ISBN 978-1-78105-861-9

Page 60



 

 

          
      

Department for Education 
20 Great Smith Street 

London 
SW1P 3BT 

Chief Finance Officer  
Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
Margaret McMillan Tower 
Princes Way 
Bradford 
BD1 1NN 

10 October 2017 

FAO Bradford Metropolitan District Council Chief Finance Officer 

Re: S31 Grant Determination Letter for the Opportunity Areas PS 1 Grant 
(2017-18 [DfE ref GR1000326] DCLG ref 31/3128)  

This Determination is made between: 

(1) The Secretary of State for Education and  
(2) The local authorities listed at Annex A. 

I am pleased to be writing to you to confirm further details of the Government’s offer 
to Bradford Metropolitan District Council following agreement that the Opportunity 
Areas (OAs) Grant would be devolved. 

We will devolve this Grant under a Section 31 non-ring fenced transfer (Local 
Government Finance Act 2003). Our expectation is that the Bradford Metropolitan 
District Council will use the funds to support the aims of the Opportunity Areas 
programme. The Senior Responsible Owner for this Grant, Sarah Lewis, will require 
your responsible officer to confirm at the end of each financial year that the funding 
has been properly expended.  

The total funding available for the OA programme is £72m, over three years, 2017-
18 to 2019-20. As set out in our recent letter, we expect a substantial proportion of 
that money to be channelled through the relevant top tier local authorities. For this 
year, we expect funds to be made available to local authorities in the form of two 
non-ring-fenced grants – one in October and a second one in January (details to be 
confirmed in due course, and subject to the progress made with each OA’s delivery 
plan). We intend to make a larger payment at this stage to the first six OAs, reflecting 
their more developed delivery plans, but this will be balanced with larger payments to 
the second six OAs later in the programme. A total of £3.6 million will be paid in 
October 2017 to the 12 local authorities concerned, to ‘kick-start’ activity in the 
Opportunity Area and pay for programme costs incurred to-date, including any new 

Page 61



 

 

burdens where these have been identified. Details of the October payment can be 
found in Annex A.   

Purpose of the Grant 

Bradford Metropolitan District Council can spend this grant to promote activity in the 
Opportunity Area that will improve the social mobility outcomes of children and 
young people. Whilst you may choose how to spend the money in order to best meet 
local need, we anticipate that all decisions will be informed by the local problem 
diagnosis based on the recommendations of the local OA delivery plan. 

The Department’s aspiration is that local authorities should use the funding provided 
to:  

 implement the recommendations of the Opportunity Areas delivery plans to 
improve the social mobility outcomes of children and young people across all 
life stages; 

 offer targeted support and fund activities that address social mobility barriers 
locally across all life stages; 

 coordinate through the OA partnership board regional activities with the 
intention of improving system capacity in school leadership, teacher quality, 
curriculum programmes and school clubs;  

 support activities that seek to improve personal development, raise 
aspirations, provide opportunities for career experience and skills 
development and participation in volunteering and social action projects; 

 establish pilot interventions and programmes focussing on areas which might 
include (but would not be limited to) the home learning environment, teacher 
workload, international teacher recruitment, children and young people’s 
mental health, training for SEND practitioners, pathways to employment for 
young people, and speech, language and communication needs in early 
years. 

The local authority may also use the grant to cover its reasonable expenses in 
helping to administer the OA programme.  

Payment arrangements 

Payment will be made in two instalments, the first on 12 October 2017 and the 
second in January 2018, the exact date to be confirmed in due course. 
  

Page 62



 

 

Arrangements for keeping in touch with the Department for Education and the Head 
of Delivery 

Formal reporting to the Department for Education on progress is not a condition of 
this grant.  The Department for Education will, however, ask Bradford Metropolitan 
District Council to provide a voluntary end of year return and report confirming 
activity that has taken place or been funded.   

The Department for Education would also be happy to receive any information about 
effective practice and activity that substantively addresses social mobility across all 
life stages of children and young people. 

This letter has been copied to the Chief Finance Officer of all participating local 
authorities, Directors of Children’s Services, Opportunity Areas Heads of Delivery, 
Her Majesty’s Treasury and the Department for Communities and Local 
Government.  

Enquiries 

This letter has been copied for information to LA Chief Finance Officers, Her 
Majesty’s Treasury and the Department for Communities and Local Government.  

For all enquiries about the contents of this letter, please contact 
Opportunity.AREAS@education.gov.uk  

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Education, 

 
 
Sarah Lewis 
Deputy Director, Opportunity Areas, Department for Education  
  

Page 63

mailto:Opportunity.AREAS@education.gov.uk


 

 

Annex A 

REVENUE grant determination (non-ringfenced) 

Opportunity Areas PS 1 GRANT DETERMINATION 2017-18:  
[GR1000326] [31/3128] 
 
The Minister of State for Education (Justine Greening), in exercise of the powers 
conferred by section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003, makes the following 
determination: 
 
Citation 
 
1) This determination may be cited as the Opportunity Areas PS 1 Grant Determination 
(2017-18) [No. 31/3128]. 
 
Purpose of the grant 
 
2) The purpose of the grant is to provide support to local authorities in England towards 
expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them.  
 
Determination 
 
3) The Minister of State determines as the authorities to which grant is to be paid and 
the amount of grant to be paid, the authorities and the amounts set out in Annex A. 
 
Treasury consent 
 
4) Before making this determination in relation to local authorities in England, the 
Minister of State obtained the consent of the Treasury. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Signed by authority of the Minister of State for Education 
 
Sarah Lewis, Deputy Director, Opportunity Areas, Department for Education 
6 October 2017 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Authorities to which grant is to be 
paid 

Opportunity Area Amount of grant 
to be paid 

Blackpool Borough Council Blackpool £500,000 

Derby City Council Derby £500,000 

Norfolk County Council Norwich £500,000 

Oldham Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Oldham £500,000 

North Yorkshire County Council Scarborough £500,000 

Somerset County Council  W Somerset £500,000 

Bradford Metropolitan District 
Council 

Bradford  £100,000 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Doncaster £100,000 

Cambridgeshire County Council Fenland & E Cambs £100,000 

East Sussex County Council Hastings £100,000 

Suffolk County Council Ipswich £100,000 

Stoke-on-Trent City Council Stoke-on-Trent £100,000 

  

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report of the Chair of Children’s Services Overview  and 
Scrutiny Committee to the meeting of the Committee to 
be held on Tuesday 27 February 2018 
 
 

AG 
Subject:   
 
Subject:  Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny  Committee Work 
Programme 2017-18 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report presents the Committee’s Work Programme 2017-18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr Dale Smith 
Chair – Children’s Services O&S 
Committee 

Portfolio:   
Education, Employment and Skills 
Health & Well Being  
 

Report Contact:  Licia Woodhead 
Overview and Scrutiny Lead 
Phone: (01274) 432119 
E-mail: licia.woodhead@bradford.gov.uk 

 

 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 8/



 

1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report presents the Committee’s Work Programme 2017-18. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required by the Constitution of the 

Council to prepare a work programme (Part 3E – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, Para 1.1). 

 
3. REPORT ISSUES 
 
3.1 Appendix 1  of this report presents the Work Programme 2017-18.   
 
3.2 Work planning cycle  

Best practice published by the Centre for Public Scrutiny suggests that ‘work 
programming should be a continuous process’.  It is important to regularly review 
work programmes so that important or urgent issues that come up during the year 
are able to be scrutinised.  In addition, at a time of limited resources, it should also 
be possible to remove projects which have become less relevant or timely.  For this 
reason, it is proposed that the Committee’s work programme be regularly reviewed 
by Members throughout the municipal year. 

 
Members may wish to amend the current work programme (Appendix 1) and / or 
comment on the proposed work planning cycle set out above.  
 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
None 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

None 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL  

None 
 
7. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  

None 
 
8. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
8.1 That the Work Programme continues to be regularly reviewed during the year. 
 
9. APPENDICES 
 
9.1 Appendix 1 – Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work 

Programme 2017-18 
 
 

Page 68



 Democratic Services - Overview and Scrutiny 
 Childrens Services O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia Woodhead tel - 43 2119 
 Work Programme 2017/18 
 Agenda  Description Report  
 Wednesday, 14th March 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 27/02/2018. Report deadline 01/03/2018. 
 1) Workloads of Children's Social Care Services The Committee will receive a report on the work of Children's Social  Jim Hopkinson 
 Care Services, including information relating to the Service’s key  
 performance indicators. 
 2) Children's Safeguarding Board Annual report Jenny Cryer 
 3) Neglect The Committee will receive a report on neglect Jenny Cryer 

 Wednesday, 11th April 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 26/03/2018. Report deadline 27/03/2018. 
 1) Schools Forum The Committee will receive an update report on the work of the  Andrew Redding 
 Schools Forum. 
 2) Capital allocations and school expansion programme  The Committee will receive an update report on Capital Allocations and  Ian Smart 
 2018-19 the School Expansion Programme. 
 3) Fostering review update The Committee will receive an update report on the review of the  Jim Hopkinson 
 Fostering service. 
 4) Children's Services O&S Committee Resolution Tracking  The Committee will receive a report detailing the outcomes of  Licia Woodhead 
 report resolutions made during the 2017-18 municipal year. 

 15th February 2018 Page 1 of 1 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 B POSITIVE PATHWAYS
	7 BRADFORD OPPORTUNITY AREA
	Chi27FebDocAFapp1
	Contents
	Our vision
	Improving opportunities for Bradford’s children and young people
	Strength through partnership
	Our priorities

	Chi27FebDocAFapp2

	8 CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18
	Chi27FebDocAGapp1




